PETITION FOR REVIEW 

Pursuant to RAP Rule 13.4, petitioner Howard J. Gale respectfully 

petitions the Washington State Supreme Court to accept review of this 

matter and reverse the decision by the Court of Appeals, Division One, on 

February 10, 2014, Case No. 70212-2. Mr. Gale seeks review under RAP 

13. 4(b )( 1 ), as the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with decisions of 

the Supreme Court, and RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ), as this case presents an issue of 

substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme 

Court. Specifically, the Appeals Court has ignored the requirements for 

establishing the "reasonable" search standard for agencies fulfilling PRA

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Howard J. Gale is a resident of the City of Seattle who is 

active in campaigns for social justice and civil rights, including support 

and advocacy for homeless residents of Seattle. Mr. Gale was the Plaintiff 

in the trial court and the Appellant in the Court of Appeals. 

CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

This petition seeks review of the decision by the Court of Appeals, 

Division One, on February 10, 2014, Case No. 70212-2, which affirmed 

the major findings of fact and conclusions oflaw by King County Superior 

Court (Cause No. 12-2-38553-0 SEA, The Honorable Theresa Doyle 

presiding). A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is in this petition's 

appendix. 

Mr. Gale filed a Motion for Reconsideration with the Court of 

Appeals on March 3, 2014. On April 10, 2014, the Court of Appeals 

denied the motion. A copy of the order denying reconsideration is in this 

petition's appendix. 
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ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

(A) Can a court find that "An agency that conducts a search 

'reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant documents' is not liable 

under the PRA"? (Appeals Court Decision (ACD), p. 17). Specifically, 

can a court make a "reasonable search" the a priori factor in determining 

fundamental PRA violations, and completely wall off the determination of 

reasonable search from the production of documents, so that (i) available 

evidence to impeach reasonable search is ignored, (ii) a fundamental cause 

of action for the PRA -- unproduced responsive documents as codified by 

RCW 42.56.550(1) and RCW 42.56.550(4) --is restricted and made 

conditional for the first time in over forty years, and (iii) an absurd result 

obtains, in that an agency could conduct a reasonable search, find 

numerous responsive documents, yet produce no documents, and remain 

in compliance with the PRA. 

(B) Can a court arbitrarily narrow or reduce the scope and meaning 

of a valid and clear PRA request, rendering parts of it superfluous? 

(C) Can a court certify the adequacy of an agency's PRA search 
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without applying the requirements enumerated by the Supreme 

court? 

(D) Can a court require a requestor to "clarify" a PRA request, on the 

terms set forth by the agency, when no objective need for clarification 

exists? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On October 18, 20 12 Gale submitted to the Seattle Center Department 

of the City of Seattle ("City") a PRA request for all documents produced or 

dated between January 1, 2011 and October 18, 2012 relevant to: 

"(I) providing, restricting, or changing access to AC 
outlets at Seattle Center (including, but not limited to, 
turning off AC power at specific times, physically 
restricting access, etc.); 

(2) putting any changes into effect (policies, staff 
behavior, signage, etc.) that might restrict or control the 
access of any particular group of people to space or 
services (including access to AC outlets) at Seattle 
Center; 

(3) the purchase and installation of AC outlets for 
the new renovation on the west side of the Armory main 
level; 

(4) the purchase and installation of AC outlet covers 
and/or locking devices for the above" 

(CP 46, emphasis in the original; see Gale's PRA request in 
Appendix) 
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On November 14, 2012 the City sent an email to Gale stating that 

"Attached are the documents that Seattle Center has that are responsive to 

your request" (CP 48), indicating that the City considered Gale's PRA 

request fulfilled. This was the first release of documents. 

On November 19, 20 12 Gale emailed the City to inform them that there 

were records relevant to his PRA request missing from the November 14, 

2012 document release: 

"Unfortunately there are many documents missing. I know 
this as a result of conversations with workers at the Armory, 
obvious gaps in the records provided (e.g., talking about 
considering proposals and then action taken with no records 
of how decisions were made), and because I have copies of 
missing records that were originally sent to Seattle Center 
staff concerning the issue at hand." (CP 52) 

In this email Gale stated that he would refrain from court action if missing 

records were supplied by November 29, 2012 (CP 52). 

On November 29, 2012 the City emailed Gale to inform him that they 

had discovered "an additional responsive record", that a final response 

with documents would be given by December 7, 2012, and that: 

"You state that you know of documents that are missing. I 
am not sure which documents you are referring to, but if 
you have additional clarification to provide, please feel free 
to send it to me and I will work to locate if there are any 
documents that are responsive as a result of additional 
clarification." ( CP 54) 
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Gale determined that since the City made no specific request for 

clarification ofhis PRArequest none was needed. On December 3, 2012 

Gale filed his Complaint in King County Superior Court (CP 1-8), 

pursuant to WAC-44-14-08004(1) which states that RCW 42.56.520 

"allows a requestor to seek judicial review two business 
days after the initial denial whether or not he or she has 
exhausted the internal agency review process." 

On December 6, 2012 the City emailed Gale a set of documents 

responsive to his PRA request, along with a second general request for 

"clarification" on missing documents (CP 14). Again, Gale determined that 

in the absence of a specific request to clarify his PRA request the City was 

improperly demanding that Gale specify missing documents, the vast 

majority of which only the City would know about. 

On December 21, 20 12 a single additional document responsive to 

Gale's PRArequest was released by the City Law Department (CP 14). 

On January 8, 2013 Gale filed a Motion for Order to Show Cause (CP 

3 8-44) in King County Superior Court with a hearing noted before The 

Honorable Judge Doyle on January 17, 2013. Judge Doyle issued a 

continuance ofthe January 17, 2013 hearing to February 12, 2013 to allow 

the City to conduct third search (CP 168). 
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On February 8, 2013 the City released 402 pages of newly discovered 

documents, consisting of" 1 04 records, 3 8 of which were unduplicated 

additional responsive documents" (CP 142). This was the fourth and final 

release of documents by the City. 

On February 12, 2013 a hearing on Gale's January 8, 2013 Motion for 

Order to Show Cause (CP 38-44) was held before Judge Doyle in King 

County Superior Court. In that very brief hearing no issues, arguments, or 

facts were brought before the court that were not already in the record ( CP 

1-193). 

On March 18, 2013 the Superior Court granted the City's Motion to 

Amend Order and adopted the City's proposed order (CP 180-185). 

On March 19, 2013 the Superior Court denied Gale's Motion to Amend 

Order(CP 171-179). 

Gale appealed the Superior Court's order to the Appeals Court on June 

21, 2013. The February 10, 2014 decision by Appeals Court supported all 

the Superior Court's findings of fact and conclusions of law- with the 

narrow exception of supporting Gale's claim that the Superior Court failed 

to provide for Gale's expenses given that part of his claim was successful. 

Most significant for the issues presented in this petition, the trial and 
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Appeals court found that the City came into compliance with the PRA 

with its December 6, 2012 production of documents, ignoring the 

violations inherent in the release of documents on December 21, 20 12 and 

February 8, 2013. 

ARGUMENT 

(A) Can a court find that "An agency that conducts a search 

'reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant documents' is not liable 

under the PRA"? (Appeals Court Decision, p. 17). 

This extreme conclusion by the Appeals Court is the first time a 

Washington court has expanded on the Supreme Court's decision 

concerning "reasonable" search in Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Co. 

v. County ofSpokane, 111 Wn.2d 702,261 P.3d 119 (2011). This 

interpretation hinders enforcement of the PRA, as outlined below, 

presenting an issue of substantial public interest given the importance of 

the PRA. It also conflicts with prior decisions ofthe Supreme Court 

concerning how and when interpretations of the Federal FOIA are 

applicable to the Washington State PRA, as considered below. 

If a court can make a "reasonable search" the a priori factor in 

determining fundamental PRA violations, and completely wall off the 
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determination of reasonable search from the production of documents, 

there are, at a minimum, three problematic consequences for enforcement 

of the PRA: 

Available evidence to impeach reasonable search is ignored. Gale 

established that for the February 8, 2013 release of documents by the City: 

"over 84% ofthe newly released documents were produced 
using the identical search terms the City had used in its two 
prior searches, demonstrating both the inadequacy of the 
earlier searches by the City and the inappropriateness of 
expecting or requiring the requestor to provide search 
terms" (Reply Brief of Appellant, p. 22) 

These facts should have raised substantial questions concerning how 

reasonable the prior searches were. The court should have inquired as to 

the precise differences in search methods used for the December 6, 2012 

and February 8, 2013 document production, in order to account for the 

finding of additional responsive documents. If the court had subjected the 

City's non-specific and conclusory claims to scrutiny they would have 

discovered that the City used inappropriate search tools in its searches 

prior to February 8, 2013 (outlined below under (C)). 

A fundamental cause of action for the PRA- unproduced 

responsive documents as codified by RCW 42.56.550(1) and RCW 

42.56.550(4) --is restricted and made conditional for the first time in 
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over forty years when a search is deemed adequate. 

A fundamental cause of action for the state PRA is missing documents. 

The state PRA, unlike FOIA, has a provision for penalties when 

responsive documents are not produced. Courts have noted the limitations 

of this approach given substantive differences between the state and 

federal acts, e.g. the court's warning in Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. 

UW, 790 P. 2d 604, 114 Wn.2d 677 ( 1990) that "The federal act differs in 

many ways from our act... In construing statutes, courts may not read into 

the statute matters which are not there" /d., 114 Wn.2d at 687-688. Most 

recently, in Francis v. WADept. ofCorrections, 313 P. 3d 457 (2013), the 

court has noted "Most importantly, Washington courts do not consider 

FOIA cases in interpreting PRA provisions that do not correspond to 

analogous FOIA provisions" !d, 313 P. 3d 457 at ,-r 29 

An absurd result obtains, in that an agency could conduct a 

reasonable search, find but produce only some documents, and remain 

in compliance with the PRA. 

What if an agency's "adequate" search uncovered numerous responsive 

documents, but only some of these were disclosed and/or released to the 

requestor? If the requestor later discovered these withheld documents the 
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Appeals Court interpretation would leave the requestor with no cause of 

action. 

(B) Can a court arbitrarily narrow or reduce the scope and meaning 

of a valid and clear PRA request, rendering parts of it superfluous? 

By reinterpreting the plain language of a PRA request the court imposes 

arbitrary conditions not based in law, established standards, or common 

sense. A court reinterpreting what is has established as a "clear" PRA 

request makes enforcement of the PRA problematic, presenting an issue of 

substantial public interest given the importance of the PRA. 

The Appeals Court found that 

"Each topic of Gale's four-part request uses the term 
'outlet.' ... Reading liberally the plain language of the 
request, the City and the court reasonably determined the 
scope of Gale's request as relating to outlet access at the 
Armory'' (Appeal Court Decision, p. 13). 

The Court has reduced a four part PRA request to a simple gloss that 

renders it simplified and singular. It suggests that Gale would have 

identified four separate parts of his PRA request for no purpose, and 

renders part (2) of Gale's request irrelevant, as it would be subsumed by 

part (1) according to the court's interpretation. The court argues that 

11 



because the word "outlet" appears in all four separately numbered items all 

four can be seen as somehow related to a single topic as arbitrarily 

determined by the City or the court. This both (a) asserts that individual 

words taken in isolation can somehow override the meaning of clear 

sentences, and (b) impliedly adds a new provision to PRA law. In 

Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. UW, 790 P.2d 604, 114 Wn.2d 677 

( 1990) the Supreme court cautioned "In construing statutes, courts may not 

read into the statue matters which are not there." Id., 114 Wn.2d at 688 

The court has ignored the argument by Gale that this part of his PRA 

request 

"was designed to avoid precisely the Catch-22 behavior that 
the City is engaging in: either restricting searches to very 
specific words (e.g., 'outlet(s)') or claiming that Gale has 
not provided specific enough search terms. The City has 
variously labeled the populations it targeted for 
discriminatory behavior at Seattle Center as 'homeless', 
'transient', 'outlet user community' (CP 521, second 
paragraph), or people using the Armory as a 'day shelter' 
(CP 405). Gale could never have known what terms the 
City might use prior to the release of records. Indeed Gale 
had no responsibility to 'ferret out' records on his or her 
own' (WAC 44-14-04003(9) and Daines, 111 Wn. App. At 
349)." (Reply Brief of Appellant, p. 6) 
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(C) Can a court certify the adequacy of an agency's PRA search 

without applying the requirements specified by the Supreme court? 

Here the Appeals Court has made determinations that ignore the 

requirements set forth by the Supreme Court, as noted below in regards to 

an agency providing detailed and nonconclusory affidavits to support the 

claim that the agency performed an adequate search. The court's decisions 

both conflict with Supreme court decisions and undercut enforcement of 

the PRA, presenting an issue of substantial public interest given the 

importance of the PRA. 

The court has concluded that the City conducted a "reasonable" search 

for documents responsive to Gale's PRA request in its conclusion that "the 

trial court properly determined the City met its PRA requirements with the 

December 6, 2012 disclosure" (Appeals Court Decision, p. 18). 

In Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Co. v. County of Spokane, 111 

Wn.2d 702, 261 P.3d 119 (2011) the court states 

"the agency bears the burden, beyond material doubt, of 
showing its search was adequate .. To do so, the agency may 
rely on reasonably detailed, nonconclusory affidavits 
submitted in good faith. These should include the search 
terms and the type of search performed, and they should 
establish that all places likely to contain responsive 
materials were searched. An agency may wish to include 
such information in its initial response to the requester, 
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since doing so may avoid litigation." !d., 111 Wn.2d at 721 

The Court has determined that Denise Wells, the Seattle Center Public 

Records Officer responsible for fulfilling Gale's PRA request, "believes 

she used the search terms 'outlet' and 'outlets' because they would 

reasonably produce results responsive to Gale's request. She was not 

certain these were the exact search terms used" (Appeals Court Decision, 

p. 3, also see CP 364). Wells also stated stated "I do not know which 

search terms the other SC [Seattle Center] staff used to review their emails 

and files for responsive documents" (CP 364). 

After the original release of records on November 14, 2012, Wells notes 

that in a conversation with two employees sometime after November 20, 

2012 that "Neither employee confirmed which search term(s) they used" 

(CP 365). These facts establish there was great uncertainty as to what 

search terms were used by which employees during both the first and 

second search. 

Wells also states she instructed "senior staff and supervisors ... to check 

with any of their staff who may have responsive records" ( CP 197-198). 

This establishes that there were at least two levels of staff who performed 

searches without either direct supervision or follow-up by Wells to 
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determine the search terms used and the locations searched (for both 

searches), along with uncertainty as to who was actually conducting 

searches and where they were performed. 

Wells states "I reminded staffto search their hard and electronic files, 

and archived emails" (CP 198), without noting whether departmental or 

City email servers were searched during any of the searches, or providing 

any information on verification that proper searches were done. 

On November 20, 2012 Wells sent a second email to a broader range of 

staff(adding staffreferenced in the emails released on November 14, 

2012, along with staff contacted for the first search), once more 

requesting responsive documents (CP 199-200). The description of the 

second search is more non-specific than that for the first search. 

Wells states that during the second search she found that responsive 

documents were found using the search term "wi-fi", and that she 

completed "an additional search search of Robert Nellam's archived 

emails, using 'wi-fi' as a search term" (CP 201). Wells never noted in her 

Declaration whether she searched other locations using this term or 

notified any other staff of the possible productive use of this term. 

Wells makes conclusory statements, notably that Seattle Center's 
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"search protocols are designed to look for responsive records in the places 

where they are reasonably expected to be located. SC approaches searches 

with the goal of locating any responsive records that might exist" (CP 

203). 

After the Appeals Court decision, the City made a stunning admission 

for the first time to the court concerning the actual search method used for 

the February 8, 2013 document production. In the "City Respondent's 

Response to Appellant's Motion to Reconsider," filed April 7, 2014, page 

20: 

"This search was conducted using a forensic, complex e
discovery litigation tool that requires extensive training ... 
This forensic tool allows a person to search multiple 
records custodians simultaneously and catches terms 
embedded within attachments and long e-mail threads. It is 
not readily available to Seattle Center." 

For the first time the City has documented the reason that the February 8, 

2013 document production yielded responsive documents not released 

before: prior searches used inadequate search tools, unable to search e-

mail attachments. The City's attempt to suggest that an adequate search 

could have been accomplished with inferior methods, and then justify this 

by making undocumented claims concerning cost and training, is cynical 
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at best. 

Given the lack of specificity and the lack of knowing who used what 

search terms and where - except through conclusory statements -- it is 

difficult to understand how the court has established that the City 

performed a reasonable search under the guidelines suggested above in 

Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Co. v. County of Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 

702, 261 P.3d 119 (20 11 ). The fact that the City used inferior search 

methods in earlier searches, and failed to explain this to the court, 

establishes that if an "adequate" search standard is to be used in such a 

determinative manner the courts must adopt more rigorous standards for 

evaluating the declarations of agencies fulfilling PRA requests. Courts 

should also not wall off consideration of latter produced documents to 

inform on the "adequacy" ofthe search. 

(D) Can a court require a requestor to "clarify" a PRA request, on the 

terms set forth by the agency, when no objective need for clarification 

exists? 

As the court found Gale's PRA request clear, how can the court then 

require the requestor to provide "clarification" before the agency is 
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required to fully comply with the PRA? The court states that "Bartz v. 

State Dep't ofCorr. Pub. Disclosure Unit, 173 Wn. App. 522, 297 P.3d 

737, review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1024 (2013), controls" (Appeals Court 

Decision, p. 19), despite Gale having argued that

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