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

argument for the first time in his motion to reconsider the Court of 

Appeals decision; he presented no evidence when he had the opportunity 

at the trial court to rebut Wells' declaration. In addition, he argues that the 

Court of Appeals should not have referred to FOIA precedent regarding 

2 

! 

I 

I 
I 



the standard for determining search adequacy even though this Court 

adopted that FOIA standard in Neighborhood Alliance. 

None of these arguments warrant review either. Because the decision of 

the Court of Appeals is wholly consistent with established case law and 

does not present any matter of substantial public interest justifying review, 

Gale's petition for review should be denied. 

ill. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES 

The City acknowledges the issues that Gale presents, but believes they 

are more appropriately formulated as follows: 

1. Should the Court revisit and overturn NeighQorhood Alliance, 

which held that in determining the adequacy of a search the focus of the 

'
inquiry is not whether responsive documents do in fact exist, but whether 

the search itself was adequate. 

2. Should an agency be penalized for conducting a good faith, 

adequate search based on the information it had where the requestor 

informed the agency that records were missing from a production, the 

agency repeatedly asked the requestor for additional information to aid in 

locating the allegedly missing records, but the requestor refused to provide 

any additional information. 
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3. Should an agency be held liable for conducting an expanded search 

for records using additional search terms not suggested by the requestor 

until show cause reply briefing where the agency repeatedly asked the 

requestor for additional information to assist in searching for records and 

the requestor refused to provide that information because he did not want 

to "tip his hand." 

IV. RESPONSE TO GALE'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Court of Appeals decision provides an accurate overview of 

the facts, which the City incorporates by reference. The City provides the 

following facts to counter Gale's inaccurate factual contentions. Gale has 

created a moving target since making his request and throughout this 

litigation. He made a request that plainly sought records on one topic, and 

then asserts that the City should have recognized that he was seeking 

records on a different topic. He claims that documents are missing, offers 

to help, and then refuses on three separate occasions to do so. CP 52, 186, 

189; 201-03, 284. Gale waited until oral argument at the show cause 

hearing to suggest that the City should have used the search terms 

"homeless" and "transient," and argued that the City should have known 

to use them. Op. at 8. At oral argument before the Court of Appeals, Gale 

attempted to expand his request even further, stating: 

"If I had said I'm interested in records on homeless, we'd 

4 



be in court here today arguing about why didn't they look 
for transient, why didn't they look for outlet user 
community, why didn't they look for people who use the 
Center as a day shelter?" (January 15, 2014, 702122, from 
minutes 22:48 to 22:54) 

In his petition, Gale claims he "could never have known what 

terms the city might use prior to the release of records." Pet. at 12. Gale 

expects the City to read his mind and seems to believe that communicating 

openly and clearly with the City is "tipping his hand." CP 202. At the 

same time, he claims the City should be subject to penalties for conducting 

anything less than a perfect search. 

Gale continues to claim that documents are missing, but has 

provided no evidence to support such an argument. He claimed to possess 

unproduced responsive documents in November 2012, but throughout this 

litigation he has neither identified nor produced the alleged missing 

documents. Gale offered no evidence below to support his allegations, 

and provides no legal support for the proposition that the Court of Appeals 

erred here. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that based on his 

"unsupported suspicions regarding the City's motives" for restricting AC 

outlet access at the Armory, "Gale presumes more records must exist that 

explain the City's decision and interprets the absence of such records as 

proof that the City is withholding them." Op. at 15. Gale's unsupported 

speculation does not warrant review by this court. 
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V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with Neighborhood 
Alliance. 

In Neighborhood Alliance, this Court held that the PRA requires an 

agency to perform an adequate search for responsive records and adopted 

the FOIA standard of reasonableness regarding what constitutes an 

adequate search. !d., 172 Wn.2d at 719-720 ("The adequacy of a search is 

judged by a standard of reasonableness, that is, the search must be 

reasonably calculated to uncover all relevant documents."). 

In determining the adequacy of a search, the "focus is not on 

whether responsive documents do in fact exist, but whether the search 

itself was adequate." !d., 172 Wn.2d at 720. "The agency may rely on 

reasonably detailed, nonconclusory affidavits submitted in good faith. 

These should include the search terms and the type of search performed, 

and they should establish that all places likely to contain responsive 

materials were searched." !d., 172 Wn.2d at 721. The standard of 

reasonableness "does not require absolute exhaustion of the files; instead, 

it requires a search reasonably calculated to uncover the sought materials." 

Miller v. US. Dep't of State, 779 F.2d 1378, 1384-85 (8th Cir., 1986). An 

agency's search is not inadequate because it "did not do all that it could." 

!d. at 1385. Here the City did all that it could. 
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Gale failed to present evidence at the trial court or in the Court of 

Appeals to rebut the Declarations of Seattle Center Public Records Officer 

("PRO") Denise Wells. For the first time in his motion to reconsider the 

Court of Appeals decision, Gale contended that Wells' declarations were 

conclusory and unsupported by the evidence. It is well-settled that new 

issues cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); Heg v. 

Alldredge, 157 Wn.2d 154, 162, 137 P.3d 9 (2006), see also, State v. Me 

Donald, 138 Wn.2d 680, 691, 981 P.2d 443 (1999). Because Gale did not 

raise this issue in a timely fashion in the trial court or in the Court of 

Appeals, it is too late for him to do so now. The Court should decline to 

address this issue. 

In any event, at no point in this litigation has Gale provided any 

authority to demonstrate that Wells' good faith declaration describing the 

step-by-step process for responding to PRA requests both generally and 

specifically to Gale's request was insufficient to demonstrate an adequate 

search. The Court of Appeals found that Ms. Wells' "declarations 

describing these searches identify the probable search terms used, the 

places searched (hard and electronic files and archived emails), and 

establish that the City searched in locations likely to contain responsive 

records." (Op. at 18). It ultimately concluded: "Seattle Center followed 

standards procedures in responding to Gale's request", and the ''trial court 
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properly determined the City met its PRA requirements with the 

December 6, 2012 disclosure." (Op. at 16, 18, respectively) "[W]here an 

agency has proper procedures in place, it may avoid penalties under the 

PRA by simply following them in a reasonable manner." Francis v. WA 

Dept. ofCorrections, 178 Wn. App. 42, 313 P.3d 457,467 (2013). 

The PRA Model Rules, WAC Chapter 44-14, provide guidance on 

reasonable agency searches. WAC 44-14-04003(9) states in pertinent part: 

A reasonable agency search usually begins with the public 
records officer for the agency or a records coordinator for 
a department of the agency deciding where the records are 
likely to be and who is likely to know where they are. One 
of the most important parts of an adequate search is to 
decide how wide the search will be. If the agency is small, 
it might be appropriate to initially ask all agency employees 
if they have responsive records. If the agency is larger, the 
agency may choose to initially ask only the staff of the 
department or departments of an agency most likely to have 
the records ... It is better to be over inclusive rather than 
under inclusive when deciding which staff should be 
contacted, but not everyone in an agency needs to be asked 
if there is no reason to believe he or she has responsive 
records. An e-mail to staff selected as most likely to have 
responsive records is usually sufficient. Such an e-:mail also 
allows an agency to document whom it asked for records. 
Agency policies should require staff to promptly respond to 
inquiries about responsive records from the public records 
officer. [emphasis added] 

Wells' unrebutted declaration fulfilled all criteria established by 

Neighborhood Alliance to demonstrate an adequate search: it was 

submitted in good faith, is reasonably detailed, includes search terms, 
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types of searches conducted, and establishes that all places likely to 

contain responsive materials were searched. Neighborhood Alliance, 172 

Wn.2d at 721. Gale offers only unsupported speculation while the record 

demonstrates the adequacy of the City's second search. 

The City conceded the first search was inadequate. For the second 

search, Wells provided the 28 selected records custodians with Gale's 

request, the results from the first production, asked if others might have 

responsive documents, required everyone to confirm whether they had 

responsive documents, provided clear instructions on where to look for 

responsive documents, and offered to help those who needed assistance. 

(CP 200, 277) Per standard practice, Wells relied upon individual records 

custodians to search for responsive records. This not only makes sense as 

records custodians are most familiar with their emails, files and record-

keeping systems, this practice is specifically recognized by the Model 

Rules as reasonable, as noted above. See WAC 44-14-04003(9). Further, 

this Court recognized that an "agency does not necessarily have to 

produce a declaration or affidavit from the individual employee who 

actually conducted the search; an affidavit or declaration of the agency 

employee who is responsible for supervising a FOIA search may be 

sufficient." Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 734 (Madsen, C.J., 

concurring,) citing Carney v. Dept. of Justice, 19 F.3d 807, 814 (2nd Cir., 
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1994)(citations omitted). Carney provides guidance because our Supreme 

Court held that "adequacy of a search of records under the PRA is the 

same as exists under FOIA." Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d at 719. 

The Court of Appeals below correctly applied the reasonableness 

standard established in Neighborhood Alliance and found that the City's 

second search for records was adequate and that the City's December 6, 

2012 production brought it into compliance with the PRA. 

Gale nonsensically argues that by making a reasonable search the 

"a priori factor in determining PRA violations," an agency could escape 

liability if it conducted an adequate search but did not disclose and/or 

release all of the documents located through the search. Pet. at 10. 

Nothing in Neighborhood Alliance or the Court of Appeals decision leads 

to the conclusion that an agency need not disclose or release the records 

found as the result of its search. In fact, Neighborhood Alliance 

specifically linked an agency's search and production obligations: "[A]n 

adequate search is required in order to properly disclose responsive 

records." 172 Wn.2d at 721 (citation omitted). Gale's argument to the 

contrary is baseless. 
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B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Found that the City Should 
Not Be Penalized for Gale's Lack of Cooperation 

The Court of Appeals properly found that based on the unique 

facts of this case, "Gale created the need for clarification when he e-

mailed the City after its initial production of documents, expressed 

concern that documents were missing, and offered to 'facilitate the 

search."' (Op. at 18). Gale argues that the Court of Appeals ignored the 

fact that he "was within his right to take court action without providing 

this notice to the City, and he should not be disadvantaged by having done 

so." Pet. at 19. 

Gale fundamentally misunderstands the concept of clarification 

applied by the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals recognized that 

where a requester says that records are missing and the agency asks in 

good faith for additional information that would help it locate those 

records, the agency should not be penalized for conducting an adequate 

search based on the information it has. 

The Court of Appeals relied on Bartz v. Dep 't of Corrections, 173 

Wn.App. 522, 297 P.3d 737 (2013). Bartz informed DOC that its response 

to his request was incomplete because he possessed emails between two 

DOC employees that should have been included in the responsive 

documents, but failed to identify the allegedly missing records to DOC or 
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to provide them to the trial court. The court held that DOC had not 

violated the PRA where "the record shows that (1) "DOC made multiple 

attempts to produce the requested records, even asking Bartz to provide 

specific names and dates for the emails he was seeking and performing 

another futile search when he refused to supply this information," and (2) 

DOC responded promptly to every letter Bartz sent involving this PRA 

request. !d., 173 Wn.App at 539. The Court of Appeals noted that the facts 

in this case were strikingly similar to the facts in Bartz and held that 

Gale's lack of cooperation in responding to the City's request for 

clarification "support its conclusion" that the City came into compliance 

with the PRA on December 6, 2012. (Op.at 20) 

Gale attempts to distinguish Bartz because that requestor sought 

the production of two particular emails, while he sought broad categories 

of documents. However, the number of alleged missing documents is not 

the controlling issue, rather the fact that both Bartz and Gale claimed to 

have responsive documents in their possession and refused to provide any 

additional information to the agencies to assist them in producing those 

documents. An agency should not be penalized, nor should a requester be 

rewarded for the requester's lack of cooperation. 
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C. The Trial Court Properly Applied FOIA Precedent 

Citing to Progressive Animal Welfare Soc y v. Univ. of Wash., 114 

Wn.2d 677, 790 P.2d 604 (1990) ("PAWS"), Gale argues that Washington 

courts should not consider FOIA cases here because FOIA does not have a 

provision for penalties when responsive records are not produced. This is 

simply a variation on his argument that a less than perfect search cannot 

be adequate. He also appears to be asking this Court to overturn 

Neighborhood Alliance. 

For almost forty years, this Court has noted that where the PRA 

closely parallels FOIA, "judicial interpretations of FOIA are helpful in 

construing [the PRA]." Hearst Corp.v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 128, 580 

P.2d 246 (1978); Dawson v. Daly, 120 Wn.2d 782, 791-92, 845 P.2d 995 

(1993); Limstrom v. Ladenburg, 136 Wn.2d 595, 608-09, 963 P.2d 869 

(1998); O'Connor v. Wash. State Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv., 143 

Wash.2d 895, 25 P.3d 426 (2001). In Neighborhood Alliance, this Court 

considered the similarity between FOIA and the PRA provisions regarding 

production of records and application of exemptions and, because those 

provisions of the two statutes mirrored each other, held that "the adequacy 

of the search for records under the PRA is the same as exists under 

FOIA." 172 Wn.2d at 719. Just as this Court did in Neighborhood 
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Alliance, the Court of Appeals properly looked to FOIA precedent in 

construing the reasonableness standard. 

D. The Court Should Ignore Gale's Arguments Regarding the 
Third Search 

In his petition, Gale quotes language contained in the City's 

response to his motion for reconsideration of the Court of Appeals 

decision referring to the expanded forensic search conducted by the Law 

Department: 

His search was conducted using a forensic, complex e-discovery 
litigation tool that requires extensive training ... This forensic tool 
allows a person to search multiple records custodians 
simultaneously and catches terms embedded within attachments 
and long e-mail threads. It is not readily available to Seattle 
Center. 

Gale asserts that this is a "stunning admission" that documents "for the 

first time" the reasons that the February 8, 2013 document production 

yielded additional documents. 

Contrary to Gale's hyperbole, this so-called "stunning admission" 

has been in the record throughout this litigation as it reflects the 

Declaration of Matt Jaeger submitted in the trial court (CP 368-69). It was

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